FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/16/2018 2:28 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/21/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No.

Appellate Court No. 75671-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KING COUNTY CORRECTIONS GUILD,

Appellant,

v.

JARED KARSTETTER and JULIE KARSTETTER,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' PETITION TO REVIEW DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION ONE

LAW OFFICES OF JUDITH A. LONNQUIST, P.S.

Judith A. Lonnquist, WSBA No. 06421 1218 Third Ave., Suite 1500 Seattle, WA 98101 lojal@aol.com

(206) 622-2086

A. Identity of Petitioner:

Jared Karstetter, Petitioner, respectfully asks this court to accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals terminating review, designated in Part B of this motion.

B. Court of Appeals Decision

- 1. The petitioner requests that this Court review the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, reversing the decision of the trial court and remanding the case to the trial court to dismiss two of claims in the case (wrongful discharge and breach of contract).
- 2. The date the decision was entered or filed is: December 26, 2017. Petitioner filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on January 19, 2018.
 - 3. The decision is reported at 1 Wn.App. 2d 822, 407 P.3d 384.¹

C. Issues Presented for Review

This case presents the following issues for review:

1. Whether the decision of the appellate court conflicts with this Court's decisions in Becker v. Community Health Systems, 184 Wn.2d 252, 359 P.3d 746 (2015), Rose v. Anderson Hay and Grain, 184 Wn.2d 268, 358 P.3d 1139

¹ The decision contained in the Appendix, for the Court's ease of reference.

- (2015); and Rickman v. Premera Blue Cross, 184 Wn.2d 300, 358 P.3d 1153 (2015);²
- 2. Whether the lower court erred in applying an incorrect legal standard to Mr. Karstetter's wrongful discharge claim.
- 3. Whether, given Washington's strong public policies protecting employees from arbitrary dismissal, the court below erred in removing all job protection from the countless numbers of in-house counsel employed in our State, leaving them without any redress.
- 4. Whether in-house attorneys in the State of Washington can enforce an employment contract to the extent that it does not directly conflict with the Rules of Professional Conduct.
- 5. Whether, given the inconsistent appellate opinions regarding contractual rights of in-house counsel, this Court should accept review in order to provide clear guidance to the lower courts and litigants regarding the enforceability of employment agreements with staff attorneys.

² These three cases are hereinafter referred to as "the Rose Trilogy."

D. Statement of the Case

Mr. Karstetter has worked for labor organizations representing King County Corrections Officers since 1984.³ From 1984 to 1987, he was employed as a Business Representative by Public Safety Employees Local 519.⁴

After graduating from law school and passing the Bar in Washington, Mr. Karstetter remained employed with Local 519 in the position of Legal Advisor, which included the job functions that were predominately that of a Business Representative and peripherally as the union's in-house advisor for non-litigation matters. Throughout his employment with Local 519, Mr. Karstetter received a continuing employment contract, which contained terms like those found in the subsequent employment contracts signed by the King County Corrections Guild.⁵ Specifically, Mr. Karstetter received the benefit of a just cause standard and an expectation of continuing employment.⁶

³ Appx. at 2 (the Declaration of Jared Karstetter in Support of Answer to Motion for Discretionary Review was submitted to the appellate court as part of the Appendix to his responsive brief). All references herein to "Appx" refer to pages in that appellate Appendix. Because the case arose on a CR 12(b)(6) motion, the record consists only of declarations submitted regarding that motion and the subsequent motion for discretionary review.

Id.
 Id. at 2-3; Appx. at 9, 15-17 (Declaration of Henry H. Cannon).

Similar to his position with Local 519, Mr. Karstetter worked as an employee of the Guild, performing a hodgepodge of labor relations work.⁷ When court appearances or similar attorney work was necessary, the Guild would retain the services of outside counsel for litigation or external disciplinary proceedings.8 In March, 2016, the King County Ombudsman's Office contacted Mr. Karstetter requesting that he produce, either voluntarily or in response to a subpoena, financial records of the Guild related to a whistleblower complaint against a Guild officer. Mr. Karstetter checked with the Guild Vice President who directed him to cooperate with the investigation. 1 Wn.App. 822, 824.

On April 27, 2016, the Guild summarily terminated Mr. Karstetter's employment without warning, opportunity to confer with the Executive Board or any observation of just cause standards in the employment agreement. Id. On May 24, 2016, Mr. Karstetter filed suit, claiming inter alia, wrongful discharge in violation of public policy, retaliation for whistleblowing, and breach of contract.

In the trial court, the parties engaged in a substantial amount of early motions practice, but little or no discovery. The motions practice resulted in submission of a number of declarations and responses.9 The

⁷ Appx. at 4. ⁸ Appx. at 4. ⁹ CP 128-52.

Guild filed a motion to dismiss, which, after significant briefing, the trial court granted dismissal of some claims, but permitted Mr. Karstetter to proceed on claims of breach of contract and wrongful termination.¹⁰ 1 Wn.2d 822, 825. The Guild then sought interlocutory review of this matter, which was granted. *Id.* The case on appeal was briefed and argued and the decision of this Court was issued on December 26, 2017.

E. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted

1. The Appellate Decision Regarding Petitioner's Wrongful Discharge Claim Conflicts With This Court's Decisions in the *Rose* Trilogy

The course of the development of the tort of wrongful discharge in Washington has been fraught with difficulty, and often misunderstood and misapplied by the lower courts. See. e.g. Martin v. Gonzaga, 200 Wn.App. 332, 402 P.3d 294 (Div. III, 2017); Billings v. Town of Steilacoom, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 100 (Div. II, 2017). In Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219, 655 P. 1084 (1984), this Court first recognized the tort of wrongful discharge as an exception to the at-will doctrine, and held that the employee bears the initial burden of proving that the dismissal violated clear public policy. Explaining its rationale, the Thompson Court said:

¹⁰ CP 39-40.

We believe that this narrow public policy exception should be adopted because it properly balances the interests of the employer and employee . . . [It] protects against frivolous lawsuits and allows trial courts to weed out cases that do not involve any public policy principle. It allows employers to make personnel decisions without fear of incurring civil liability while at the same time ensuring job security is protected against employer actions that contravene a clear public policy.

Thompson, at 232-33.11

Lower courts continued to struggle with the parameters of the public policy tort, limiting claims of wrongful discharge to only four categories of conduct: 1) refusing to commit an illegal act; 2) performing a public duty or obligation; 3) exercising s legal right or privilege; or 4) whistleblowing. *Dicomes v. State*, 113 Wn.2d 612, 618, 792 P.2d 1002 (1989) (hereinafter referred to as "*Dicomes* categories").

In Gardner v. Loomis Armored Inc., 128 Wn.2d 931, 941, 913 P.2d 377 (1996), this Court articulated a four-part test for establishing a wrongful discharge claim: 1) a plaintiff must prove the existence of a clear public policy (the "clarity" element); 2) a plaintiff must prove that discouraging the conduct in which s/he engaged would jeopardize the public policy (the "jeopardy" element); 3) a plaintiff must prove that the public-policy-linked conduct caused the dismissal (the "causation"

¹¹ Citing *Thompson*, this Court noted in *Rickman*, 184 Wn.2d at 309: "[W]e adopted the public policy tort in recognition that the at-will doctrine gives employers potentially 'unfettered control of the workplace and, thus, allows the employer to take unfair advantage of its employees." That is certainly the case here.

element; and 4) the employer must not be able to offer an overriding justification for the dismissal (the "absence of justification" element). This four-part test is referred to as the "Perritt framework" because it was based on an academic treatise by Professor Henry Perritt Jr. 12

In the Rose Trilogy, this Court held that courts should not apply the Perritt framework in cases that present one or more of the *Dicomes* scenarios:

[W]hen the facts do not fit neatly into one of the four [Dicomes] categories, a refined analysis may be necessary. In those circumstances, the courts should look to the four-part Perritt framework for guidance. But that guidance is unnecessary . . . [where] the facts fall directly within the realm of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy.

Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain, 184 Wn.2d at 287. Thus, where, as here, an employee alleges that his conduct falls within a Dicomes category and that such conduct was a substantial factor motivating his discharge, he has met his burden of proving the tort of wrongful discharge. Rickman, 184 Wn.2d at 314. No more "refined analysis" using the Perritt framework is warranted. Rose, 184 Wn.2d at 287.

¹² Henry J. Pettitt Jr., Workplace Torts: Rights and Liabilities, 1991.

Mr. Karstter's complaint described conduct that fell squarely within items number 2 and 4 of the *Dicomes* categories:¹³

On March 4, 2016, Mr. Karstetter was contacted by the King County Ombudsman's Officer regarding a whistleblower complaint involving parking reimbursement to two Guild members. The Guild Vice President directed Mr. Karstetter to cooperate fully with the Ombudsman. Pursuant to the King County Code, Mr. Karstetter was compelled to produce certain documentation under threat of Superior Court action for compelled compliance.

Docket #1, ¶22. Mr. Karstetter's Complaint made two separate claims for relief which "fit neatly" into the *Dicomes* scenarios: wrongful discharge for performing a public duty [Count III] and whistleblower retaliation [Count III].¹⁴

It cannot be said that complying with requests for information necessary to the outcome of a public investigation, or even complying with a subpoena for such purpose, falls outside of this Court's definition of clear public policy. *Id.* Assisting a public official in an official

¹³ The record herein establishes that plaintiff would be able to prove sufficient facts to justify recovery on his wrongful discharge claim. The complaint avers that he exercised a public duty by providing information requested by a governmental official to aid in a whistleblowing investigation (¶22), that his employer knew of such activities(¶¶ 22,23) and that he was discharged for those reasons (¶26).

¹⁴ The Court of Appeals apparently conflated these two separate claims by deducing that Mr. Karstetter was pursuing only a whistleblower claim. Actually, his claims fell into two of the *Dicomes* scenarios: #2 — when employees are fired for performing a public duty and #4 — when employees are fired in retaliation for reporting employer misconduct. See also: *Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 219, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984); *Gardner v. Loomis Armored Inc.*, 128 Wn.2d 931, 96, 913 P.2d 377 (1996); *Rose v. Anderson Hav & Grain*, 184 Wn.2d 268, 287, 358 P.3d 1139 (2015).

investigation falls squarely in *Dicomes* area #2 – "where the discharge resulted due to the employee performing a public duty or obligation." Nothing in *Dicomes* or its progeny removes activity from the protections of the public policy tort if the activity results from a subpoena or a law that compels cooperation in an investigation.

Karstetter's action also falls within *Dicomes* area #4 – "where the employee was fired for reporting employer misconduct." Here, Karstetter reported to the King County Ombudsman misconduct by a Guild officer – a representative of his employer. It advances the public interest in law enforcement and investigation of misuse of public funds to encourage employee to cooperate with investigation of such issues. *See: Gaspar v. Peshastin Hi-Up Growers*, 131 Wn.App. 630, 128 P.3d 627 (Div. III, 2006), wherein a general manager sued his employer alleging that he was fired for assisting a police investigation about his employer's questionable purchases of postage stamps. Citing *Gardner v. Loomis Armored Inc*, ¹⁵ for the proposition that there is a clear public policy encouraging citizens to assist law enforcement, the *Gaspar* court held that "recognition of a public policy to assist law enforcement is fundamental," opining that "[t]here is no public policy more important or more fundamental than the one

¹⁵ 128 Wn.2d 931, 913 P.2d 377 (1996).

favoring effective protection of the lives and property of citizens." *Id.* at 637.¹⁶

In blatant disregard of this Court's *Rose* directive not to apply the Pettitt framework where, as here, the facts fall squarely in the *Dicomes* scenarios, the Court of Appeals nonetheless applied the Perritt framework and ruled that "[b]cause Karstetter's complaint fails to allege facts showing that he engaged in public-policy linked conduct, the trial court should have dismissed the wrongful discharge claim" 1 Wn.2d 822, 833. Review should be granted to clarify that the Pettitt framework should be considered only in those rare wrongful discharge cases that do not fit within one or more of the *Dicomes* scenarios. The Court of Appeals decision is in direct conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).¹⁷

2. The Decision Below Improperly Renders The Entire Population of In-House Attorneys in Washington "At-Will" Employees, Without Redress

Washington has a long history of protecting employee rights and

¹⁶ The issue here – seeking unjustified reimbursement by the County for parking – is a misappropriation of citizen's property, to wit: money paid into the public fisk by taxpayers.

¹⁷ The lower court also applied the wrong standard for assessing the sufficiency of the complaint at the CR 12(b)(6) stage. Its analysis appears closer to the stricter requirement of federal pleading under Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 544, 570, 127 S. Ct. 1955 (2007), a doctrine rejected by this Court in McCurry v. Chevy Chase Bank, 169 Wn.2d 96, 101-02, 233 P.3d 861 (2010); Handlin v. On-Site Manager Inc., 187 Wn.App. 841, 845, 351 P.3d 226 (2015).

preventing employers from abusive employment practices. See e.g.: RCW Chapter 49, RCW 39.12, RCW 18.27.040, RCW 60.04, RCW 60.28, and RCW 39.08. Indeed, this Court frequently has noted "Washington's long and proud history of being a pioneer in the protection of employee rights." Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc., 140 Wn.2d 291, 300, 996 P.2d 582 (2000); accord: Pellino v. Brink's Inc., 164 Wn.App. 668, 684, 267 P.3d 383 (Div. I, 2011). By making in-house counsel "at will" employees, regardless of whether or not they have an employment contract, and leaving them without any redress, even for contract damages, the decision below deviates from that "proud history."

Across the State of Washington and this nation, multitudes of members of the Bar are employed by corporations, unions, governmental agencies and other corporate entities. To protect their status as employees, and prevent arbitrary treatment by their employer, these "in-house" lawyers often have contracts with their one employing entity, providing terms and conditions of their employment. Such arrangements are fundamentally different from a retainer between a client and an attorney in private practice whose income is derived from representing numerous clients. An in-house attorney is, in all respects, an employee with the same

¹⁸ WSBA reports that currently 3,021 Washington lawyers self-report that they serve as in-house counsel. See: www.wsba.org/docs/default-source/licensing/membership.

concerns and vulnerabilities as a non-lawyer employee; and in some respects is even more worthy of protection given the importance to their reputation and ability to perform as an attorney elsewhere in the legal community.¹⁹

But despite Washington's long and proud history, the decision below invalidates employment agreements between employers and only those employees who fall within the narrow band of those who have a law license. Even assuming *arguendo* that portions of such contracts might be unenforceable pursuant to the Rules of Professional Conduct §1.16, Comment 4, which states: "A client has a right to discharge a lawyer at any time, with or without cause," the decision of the court below does not even preserve the employee's right to recover damages for the employer's unilateral termination.²⁰

To reach such anomalous result, the court below relied on cases involving lawyers in private practice. *E.g. LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC*, 181 Wn.2d 48, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014). (1 Wn.App. 2d at 827-28). In that case, as cited by the appellate court, the "RPCs are

¹⁹ There are benefits to both parties from an employment agreement – for example, the employer has unlimited access for legal advice or guidance at a fixed, often lower cost; the employee has a guaranteed salary and administrative assistance at no cost to the employee. These are contracts negotiated at arm's-length, by mutual agreement.

²⁰ Of course, rather than fire Mr. Karstetter, the Guild could simply have revised his job description to preclude any lawyer work and retained him as a business representative — work that historically had constituted the lion's share of his duties.

clearly directed at promoting the public good and preventing public injury." *LK Operating*, 181 Wn.2d at 86-87. Such considerations are in recognition of the relative lack of sophistication inherent in the non-legally trained public versus the presumptively more sophisticated and legally trained provider of legal services. There is no basis for such considerations where a corporation such as the union here seeks to hire an attorney, not for one legal matter at a fee dictated by the attorney, but for full-time employment at compensation negotiated between the parties and to perform duties dictated by the employer.

In *LK Operating*, this Court analyzed former RPC 1.8(a) and whether the terms of a joint venture proposal between an attorney and client were unfair to the client's interests, or if there lacked an appreciable disclosure of terms to the client. When considering whether a contract is unenforceable because it violates public policy, the Court had to decide whether the contract itself is injurious to the public. 181 Wn.2d at 87. Clearly, a contract of employment — *even one that involves an attorney-employee* — is neither prohibited, nor does it violate the public good. Even when a RPC violation is asserted as a defense to a contract claim, there is no rule that declares such contracts as automatically unenforceable. *Id.* at 87-88. Referring to its reluctance to establish a strict rule, this Court stated that the following:

Such a holding would shift the guiding inquiry from whether the contract is injurious to the public — the former is relevant when determining whether a contract is unenforceable because it violates public policy, while the latter is relevant in attorney disciplinary proceedings. It would also ignore the clear admonishment that "the purpose of the Rules can be subverted when they are invoked by opposing parties as procedural weapons."

Id. (citing Model Rules, Scope at \P 20) (italics and internal quotes in the original).

Clearly the Guild cannot be considered an unsophisticated consumer of legal services that needed protection. It had negotiated employment contracts with Mr. Karstetter for decades; it was represented in negotiation of such contracts by an outside attorney, and successfully dictated many of the crucial provisions of those contracts. See Appx. 2-6; 8-14; 25-31. Although the appellate court opined that "Karstetter cannot show that the challenged contract terms do not violate the policy behind the applicable RPC" (1 Wn.App. 2d at 828), that conclusion ignored the declarations in the record attesting to the knowledge and sophistication of the Guild as a consumer of legal services and its decades-long participation in an employment relationship with Mr. Karstetter. By so doing, the appellate court ignored this Court's admonishment in LK Operating that "the

purpose of the Rules can be subverted when they are invoked by opposing parties as procedural weapons."²¹

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