# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/19/2018 4:18 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 95531-0

Appellate Court No.: 75671-1-I

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### KING COUNTY CORRECTIONS GUILD

Appellant,

v.

#### JARED KARSETTER and JULIE KARSETTER,

Respondents.

## APPELLANT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Dmitri Iglitzin, WSBA No. 17673 Schwerin Campbell Barnard Iglitzin & Lavitt, LLP 18 West Mercer Street, Suite 400 Seattle, WA 98119

####

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

First, for a lawyer to produce sensitive client documents simply because a public entity (in this case, the King County Ombudsman's Office) has allegedly threatened to take legal action otherwise is not whistleblowing. Nor is it assisting anyone to blow the whistle. According to Karstetter's allegations, a third party had already made a whistleblower complaint to the King County Ombudsman, who was in the process of investigating it. Compl. ¶ 22 (CP 8). Thus, the government was aware of the alleged malfeasance by the time it made demands on Karstetter. He does not allege that he chose to warn the Ombudsman about the parking reimbursement issue. The Ombudsman brought it to his attention. Id. Further, as the Court below observed, Karstetter pled that he was motivated to disclose the Guild's documents by the threat of an action in superior court and his understanding of his obligations under the King County Code. *Id.* He therefore did not possess the requisite motivation to act as a whistleblower.

Next, Karstetter attempts to characterize his disclosures as the performance of a public duty, a category of *Dicomes* conduct he never raised in the proceedings below. This effort is procedurally improper. With rare exception, the Supreme Court does not entertain arguments

"raised first in a petition for review." *Crystal Ridge Homeowners Ass'n v. City of Bothell*, 182 Wn.2d 665, 678, 343 P.3d 746 (2015). Karstetter never argued, and the Court of Appeals never considered, whether his conduct constituted the performance of a public duty. Accordingly, Karstetter may not introduce this novel theory at this late date.

In any event, Karstetter's public duty argument fails on the merits. An attorney does not have a duty, absent court order, to disclose documents in his client's possession. *See Sheridan v. Reinke*, No. 1:10-cv-00359-EJL, 2013 WL 253328, at \*2 (D. Idaho Jan. 22, 2013) ("Until parties are formally served with discovery there is no obligation to respond to informal requests."). That a request was made by an arm of the government and was accompanied by a threat to sue to compel such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Karstetter skirts this problem by asserting, incorrectly, that he alleged two separate claims for relief corresponding to the whistleblower and public duty "claim" each. Pet. for Rev. at 8. To begin with, the applicability (or lack thereof) of a Dicomes category is not a claim for relief. It is a legal concept cited to support factual allegations that may or may not fit into a valid claim for relief. See AngioScore, Inc. v. TriReme Med., LLC, 760 F. Supp. 3d 951, 959, n.4 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (a "legal theory" is "not a claim in and of itself"). At any rate, Karstetter is simply wrong that Count II of the Complaint in any way alleges he performed a public duty. That count states in its entirety, "Defendants have wrongfully discharged Plaintiff." Compl. at 8, "Causes of Action." (CP 8.) Karstetter also contends, erroneously, that the Court of Appeals "apparently conflated these two separate claims" into one for whistleblowing activity. Pet. for Rev. at 8, n.14. While it is true that the Court of Appeals evaluated the application of only the fourth Dicomes category to the pleadings, that is because that was the only public policy category Karstetter specifically raised during that proceeding. See Brief of Respondents at 20 ("While there are various sources of public policy, whistleblower and non-retaliation [for whistleblowing are chief among them.") (App. at 25). The Court was right to limit the scope of its analysis to the specific public policy grounds Karstetter relied upon in his briefing. Appellate courts cannot "consider arguments that are not developed in the briefs...." Westar Funding, Inc. v. Sorrels, 157 Wn. App. 777, 787, 239 P.3d 1109 (2010).

disclosure does not change the equation. Lawyers constantly face the possibility that their clients will be sued, including by public agencies. Their duty, however, is not to yield to every such threat, but to zealously defend their client's interests and make concessions only when doing so aligns with those interests. See RPC 1.3(1) ("A lawyer should pursue a matter on behalf of a client despite opposition, obstruction or personal inconvenience to the lawyer, and take whatever lawful and ethical measures are required to vindicate a client's cause or endeavor."). Were the rule otherwise, there would be no such thing as a discovery dispute in cases in which the government acts as plaintiff. It could make unlimited discovery demands upon other parties, who would be duty-bound to disclose the requested information. Obviously, that is not how our legal system works. As the Guild's attorney, Karstetter abdicated his duty to defend his client's interests when he disclosed its confidences. His actions are more consistent with legal malpractice than performing a public duty. The only case Karstetter cites to support the existence of a public duty to volunteer client confidences is Gaspar v. Peshastin Hi-Up Growers, 131 Wn. App. 630, 128 P.3d 627 (2006). That case is inapposite. In *Gaspar*, an appellate court held only that lay citizens have a public duty to cooperate with law enforcement officials, upon request, to aid criminal investigations. Id. at 637. That case did not involve the duties of an attorney representing an entity whose members were under investigation, as was the case here. Moreover, Gaspar was limited to duties arising during criminal investigations. Karstetter has not alleged that the Ombudsman's office was conducting a criminal investigation.

Because Karstetter's first assignment of error does not demonstrate any conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and Supreme Court precedent, and because its primary object is instead to raise issues that are procedurally barred, unmeritorious, and unconnected to permissible bases for review, the Court should not accept discretionary review.

B. Karstetter's Argument Concerning In-House Lawyers Raises A Non-Adjudicable Policy Concern, Fails To Raise An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest, Is Asserted Without Proper Standing, And Is Wrong On The Merits.

Karstetter's second assignment of error makes two claims stemming from his purported status as the Guild's in-house counsel. Citing no authority, Karstetter first equates in-house legal counsel with lay employees for purposes of contract enforcement. He then revives the argument urged upon the court below that there are questions of fact that must be resolved before a court can apply the well-established rule that a client has absolute authority to terminate its relationship with an attorney.

As an initial matter, by advocating for an exception to the rule – articulated in plain language – that all lawyers are engaged in an at-will capacity, *see* RPC 1.16(a)(3) and Comment 4 thereto, Karstetter seeks to

amend the Rules of Professional Conduct through an adjudication. That is not the appropriate method to amend the RPCs. Although the Supreme Court promulgates the rules and has the ultimate authority to amend them, see Hizey v Carpenter, 119 Wn.2d 251, 261, 830 P.2d 646 (1992), it maintains a specific procedure for doing so. That procedure calls for the collection of input from practitioners during a notice and comment period. The Supreme Court disfavors making changes to the RPCs through judicial opinion. See In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Haley, 156 Wn.2d 324, 346, 126 P.3d 1262 (2006) (Sanders, J., concurring) ("We may not expand the scope of a rule by fiat. If we conclude that [a change should be made], we should simply rewrite the rule to clearly prohibit that conduct...Lawyers should not have to read slip opinions to divine their professional obligations."). Karstetter's assertion that in-house attorneys have different "concerns and vulnerabilities" than their firm-based counterparts, Pet. for Rev. at 11-12, is the sort of empirical claim that must be assessed by soliciting multiple viewpoints through notice and comment. He cannot circumvent this deliberative process by demanding that his conclusory generalizations be encoded, sub silentio, into the Rules of Professional Conduct.

Even if the Court were inclined to entertain Karstetter's proposal, the issue does not meet any of the possible grounds for discretionary review. Karstetter does not even attempt to prove that any of these grounds are met. As far as the Guild can tell, the only one of the statutory bases that Karstetter could even conceivably rely on is the existence of "an issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). But the at-will status of in-house counsel is not a matter of substantial public interest. As Karstetter readily acknowledges, the Court of Appeals' decision affects "only those employees who fall within the *narrow band* of those who have a law license." Pet. for Rev. at 12 (emphasis added). Actually, the affected "band" is even narrower than that. It encompasses only those attorneys who are exclusively employed in-house at a corporation or other organization, which may amount to slightly over 3,000 individuals in this state. Id. at 11, n.18. Only some unknown subset of those individuals actually have employment contracts with their employers that provide for anything other than terminable-at-will employment. An issue that affects the employment status of only miniscule sub-class of Washington citizens is not a matter of substantial public concern.

In addition, Karstetter lacks standing to pursue his theory. "The doctrine of standing prohibits a litigant from raising another's legal rights." *Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 109 Wn.2d, 107, 138, 744 P. 2d 1032 (1987). A challenge to standing is jurisdictional and "may be raised at any time." *Stevens Cty. v. E. Wash. Growth Mgmt.* 

Hearings Bd., 163 Wn. App. 680, 686, 262 P.3d 507 (2011). Here, Karstetter contends that he was the Guild's in-house counsel and that the Court of Appeals has deprived that class of attorneys of contractually negotiated job protections. However, the first half of that statement is untrue based on Karstetter's own pleadings.

In laying out the process for acquiring "a limited license to practice law as in-house counsel," the Admission and Practice Rules ("APR") define "in-house counsel" as an attorney who is employed "exclusively for a profit or not for profit corporation, including its subsidiaries and affiliates, association, or other business entity...." APR 8(f) (emphasis added). Karstetter admits that he was not employed exclusively by the Guild. At the outset of his complaint, he describes his practice as serving "virtually exclusively" as the Guild's in-house counsel, Compl. ¶ 5 (CP 2) (emphasis added), relying on the modifier "virtually" to obscure his other engagements. But these other engagements are apparent from Karstetter's complaint. In his statement of facts, Karstetter alleges that the circumstances of his separation from the Guild negatively impacted his relationships with other clients, thus establishing that he had such clients. The publication of the notice announcing his separation, Karstetter alleges,

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Although this provision concerns only those attorneys planning to practice in-house with a limited license, there is no reason to believe that the exclusivity component of the "in house counsel" definition does not apply to all attorneys, whether limited or not.

"almost resulted in the loss of a small Union client." *Id.* ¶ 30 (CP 7). Since he was not employed by the Guild exclusively, Karstetter was not an inhouse counsel, and thus has no standing to raise the putative rights of actual in-house attorneys. Indeed, were the Court to carve an exception to the at-will employment rule for in-house counsel, it would not change the outcome of this case. Although Karstetter stresses the unique position of such lawyers, he does not, nor could he, allege that the law should contain special protections for self-employed attorneys who happen to derive most of their business from one particular client – precisely the case here. To accept Karstetter's Petition would lead the Court to issue an impermissible advisory opinion on a non-justiciable matter. *See Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 411-12, 879 P. 2d 920 (1994) (advisory opinions are a "prohibited area").

Finally, Karstetter's effort to deduce an implied exception to the at-will rule is wrong on the merits. Karstetter argues that the Guild should be stripped of the otherwise universal right to terminate an attorney at will because the Guild is, supposedly, a "[]sophisticated consumer of legal services." Pet. for Rev. at 14. But the right to terminate counsel is not contingent on the client's level of sophistication and has never been justified on this basis. As the Court of Appeals observed, the rule exists because no client should be "unwillingly saddled with an attorney she

neither wants nor needs." 1 Wn. App. 2d at 826 n.6 (quoting *Barr v. Day*, 124 Wn.2d 318, 328, 879 P. 2d 912 (1994)).

Karstetter also argues that LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC, 181 Wn.2d 48, 331 P. 3d 1147 (2014), relied upon by the Court below, is distinguishable because it was based on a factual finding that the challenged contract terms violated the public policy embodied in the RPC at issue. But the Court of Appeals addressed this very contention, explaining that "[u]nlike LK Operating, the trial court needed no more factual inquiry to determine that the termination provision violated public policy. No hypothetical set of facts could reconcile this provision with Washington's strong public policy of allowing a client great freedom in a decision to fire its attorney." 1 Wn. App. 2d at 828. The Court of Appeals cited LK Operating for the proposition that the public policies embedded in the Rules of Professional Conduct trump contract terms, to the extent there is a conflict between the two. LK Operating does not hold that discovery is necessary to determine the existence of such a conflict in all instances. The conflict in this case is obvious from the face of the pleadings and no further facts need be adduced to confirm it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Further, it is self-evident that organizations cannot be presumed to have a unique level of sophistication in their relationship with their in-house counsel employees, relative to other companies and persons who employ attorneys.

# C. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Not Inconsistent With Other Appellate Court Opinions.

Karstetter's third assignment of error asserts that the decision below conflicts with two appellate opinions he cited in that proceeding. See Chism v. Tri-State Constr., Inc., 193 Wn. App. 818, 374 P.3d 193 (2016); Corey v. Pierce Cty., 154 Wn. App. 752, 225 P.3d 367 (2010). But as the Court of Appeals explained, that is not so. Chism dealt only with an attorney's ability to recover bonuses negotiated by contract in spite of the attorney having committed RPC violations. Chism, 193 Wn. App. at 858-60. The Supreme Court in that case noted that, in the face of the RPCs' silence on attorney wages, the state's general wage statutes should prevail. Id. at 858-59. The Guild does not dispute Karstetter's entitlement to compensation for services rendered. It seeks only the right to not continue employing Karstetter against its will. Chism is entirely inapposite.

Corey also does not conflict with the decision below. In that case, a court of appeals held in part that a public prosecutor could pursue a promissory estoppel claim based on the defendant prosecutor office's promise to include a just cause provision in the plaintiff's contract. 154 Wn. App. at 768-69. The appellate decision upheld that claim's viability only against the defendant's challenge that a just cause provision violated "RCW 36.27.040, RCW 41.56.030(2), and the Pierce County Charter." *Id.* at 770. The defendant there never raised the effect of RPC 1.16 on such a

contract provision, and so the court of appeals never considered it. As the

court below noted, Corey presents no conflict because "[a]n opinion is not

authority for what is not mentioned therein and what does not appear to

have been suggested to the court by which the opinion was rendered." 1

Wn. App. 2d at 829 n. 16 (quoting Cont'l Mut. Sav. Bank v. Elliot, 166

Wash. 283, 300, 6 P. 2d 638 (1932)).

Since neither Chism nor Corey contradicts the Court of Appeals'

decision in this case, the Court should reject Karstetter's third ground for

discretionary review.

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing, reasons, Petitioners' Petition for Review should

be denied.

Dmitri Iglitzin, WSBA# 17673

SCHWERIN CAMPBELL BARNARD

IGLITZIN & LAVITT, LLP

18 West Mercer Street, Suite 400

Seattle, WA 98119

Tel: 206-257-6003

Fax: 206-257-6038

iglitzin@workerlaw.com